Application Note

AudioCodes High Definition IP Phones Series

Device Duo

IP Phone as a Paired Audio Device



Table of Contents

1	Introduction7					
	1.1 Benefits	7				
	1.2 'Paired Device' vs. BToE	7				
2	Installing the Device Duo on the PC	9				
3	Pairing the Phone with a Desktop Application	13				
	 3.1 Viewing Account Status	.16 .16 .18 .18 .18 .19				
4	Calling Features	21				
	4.1 Teams app4.2 Zoom app	.21 .22				
5	Configuring Line Types in Duo Mode	23				
	 5.1 Configuring a Programmable Key as a Line	.23				
6	Making a Call	27				
	6.1 Selecting a Line	.27				
	6.2 Using a Line Programmable Key	.28				
	6.3 Selecting an Audio Account through which to Speed Dial	.29				
_	6.4 Using the PC	.30				
1		31				
8	Joining a Meeting by PC	33				
9	Managing Accounts	37				
10	Signing in on a Paired Phone	39				
11	Automatic Media Pause41					
12	Volume Control	43				
13	Limitations	45				
	13.1 Device Duo with Teams App13.2 Device Duo with Zoom App	.45 .46				



This page is intentionally left blank.

Notice

Information contained in this document is believed to be accurate and reliable at the time of printing. However, due to ongoing product improvements and revisions, AudioCodes cannot guarantee accuracy of printed material after the Date Published nor can it accept responsibility for errors or omissions. Updates to this document can be downloaded from https://www.audiocodes.com/library/technical-documents.

This document is subject to change without notice.

Date Published: April-28-2021

WEEE EU Directive

Pursuant to the WEEE EU Directive, electronic and electrical waste must not be disposed of with unsorted waste. Please contact your local recycling authority for disposal of this product.

Customer Support

Customer technical support and services are provided by AudioCodes or by an authorized AudioCodes Service Partner. For more information on how to buy technical support for AudioCodes products and for contact information, please visit our Web site https://www.audiocodes.com/services-support/maintenance-and-support.

Stay in the Loop with AudioCodes



Abbreviations and Terminology

Each abbreviation, unless widely used, is spelled out in full when first used.

Related Documentation

Document Name
445HD IP Phone User's Manual – Teams Compatible
450HD IP Phone User's Manual – Teams Compatible
C450HD IP Phone User's Manual – Teams Compatible
RX50 Conference Phone User's Manual – Teams Compatible
400HD Series IP Phone Administrator's Manual – Teams Compatible
445HD IP Phone Quick Guide – Teams Compatible
450HD IP Phone Quick Guide – Teams Compatible
C450HD IP Phone Quick Guide – Teams Compatible
RX50 Conference Phone Getting Started Guide – Teams Compatible

Document Revision Record

LTRT	Description	
11325	Initial document release	
11327	Added Zoom	

Documentation Feedback

AudioCodes continually strives to produce high quality documentation. If you have any comments (suggestions or errors) regarding this document, please fill out the Documentation Feedback form on our Web site at https://online.audiocodes.com/documentation-feedback.

1 Introduction

The Device Duo mode feature enables AudioCodes' IP phones to be configured as *a paired audio device*. The feature allows users to use their phone not only as a desk phone but also as a loudspeaker over a network that supports telephony operations such as accept / end calls, in addition to supporting basic audio operations.

Note:

- The Device Duo feature is currently supported for pairing AudioCodes' phones with Microsoft's Teams application.
- The Device Duo feature is currently also supported for pairing AudioCodes' phones with *Zoom client application* for basic functionalities.
- The feature is currently supported for Windows 10.
- The screens shown in these RNs are of the C450HD. The screens of the RX50, 450HD and 445HD are similar with insignificant differences. They're not shown here unless differences are significant.
- The screen of the C450HD is a touch screen, so 'touch' in this document is interchangeable with 'press'.

1.1 Benefits

The Device Duo allows users to use their IP phone not only as a phone but rather as a 'smart' audio device that *combines handset with loud speaker*.

The 'smart' audio device allows telephony controls such as call start and call end in addition to audio device controls such as volume up and down and mute but it is *not limited to these controls*.

The feature is based by standard implementation on the generalized portion of BToE capabilities to allow other third party desktop applications to use the device as a loud speaker.

1.2 'Paired Device' vs. BToE

BToE is a product of specific cooperation between the Skype for Business client and the IP phone vendor as part of the 3PIP Program.

Most of the control protocol is proprietary.

AudioCodes leverages the control protocol to third party desktop applications.





This page is intentionally left blank.

2 Installing the Device Duo on the PC

AudioCodes' Device Duo Wizard facilitates installation of the controller on your PC. Before installing the Device Duo, uninstall BToE if it's installed.

- > To install the Device Duo:
- 1. Run the executable file AudioCodes Device Duo.exe.



2. In the wizard that opens, click Next.

🛃 AudioCodes Device Duo - Wizard			×
License Agreement Please read the following license agree	ment carefully.		QC audiocodes
END USER SOFTWAT YOU SHOULD READ THE TERMS AND CAREFULLY BEFORE CLICKING "I A THE TERMS OF THIS END USER SOFTWARE AND THE ACCOMPANY SOFTWARE"). THE LICENSED SOFTW THE PACKAGE CONTAINING THE LI SOFTWARE YOU ARE ACCEPTING LICENSE AGREEMENT. IF YOU ARE NO THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT, YOU S SOFTWARE TOGETHER WITH PROO	RE LICENSE CONDITIONS (CCEPT" CONVEY LICENSE AGRE ING USER DOCU VARE IS LICENSE CENSED SOFTW AND AGREEIN OT WILLING TO HOULD PROME F OF PURCHAS	E AGREEMEN OF THIS LICENSE YING YOUR ACC EMENT FOR TH MENTATION (THI 2D (NOT SOLD). H ARE, AND/OR BY G TO THE TERM BE BOUND BY TE PILY RETURN TH E TO YOUR VEN	AGREEMENT EPTANCE OF E LICENSED E "LICENSED BY OPENING USING THE MS OF THIS IE TERMS OF E LICENSED DOR FOR A V
I accept the terms in the license agreem I do not accept the terms in the license	agreement		Print
	< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Cancel

3. Accept the terms and click **Next**.

🖟 AudioCo	AudioCodes Device Duo - Wizard X					
Destinati Click Nex	on Folder at to install to this folder, or clic	k Change to insta	ll to a different folde	QC audiocodes		
	Install AudioCodes Device Du C:\Program Files (x86)\Audio	o to: Codes\Device Du	2/	<u>C</u> hange		
InstallShield -						
		< <u>B</u> ack	Next >	Cancel		

4. Note the installation path and click **Next**.

🖟 AudioCodes Device Duo - Wizard			×
Ready to Install the Program The wizard is ready to begin installation			QC audiocodes
Click Install to begin the installation.			
If you want to review or change any of exit the wizard.	your installation	n settings, click Back. (Click Cancel to
InstallShield			
	< <u>B</u> ack	Install	Cancel

5. Click **Install** or click **Back** to review or change settings – or **Cancel** to exist the Wizard.

记 AudioCodes Device Duo - Wizard —						
Installing The prog	AudioCodes Device Duo ram features you selected are	being installed.		c		odes
15	Please wait while the Wizard several minutes.	installs AudioCodes	Device Duo	. This ma	iy take	
	Status:					
InstallShield -						
		< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >		Cance	el

6. Wait for the installation process to complete.

Real AudioCodes Device Duo - Wizard X					
30	Wizard Completed				
audiocodes	The Wizard has successfully installed AudioCodes Device Duo. Click Finish to exit the wizard.				
	🖂 Launch AudioCodes Device Duo				
	Show the Windows Installer log				
	< <u>B</u> ack <u>Einish</u> Cancel				

7. Click **Finish**; the installation is complete.



This page is intentionally left blank.

3 Pairing the Phone with a Desktop Application

This section shows how to pair the phone with the Microsoft Teams application. After the Device Duo is installed on the PC, two options can be used to pair the phone as a paired audio device:

- Automatic pairing
- Manual pairing
- > To automatically pair the phone (the default state of the phone):
- Connect a PC port cable directly from the phone to the PC as shown in the figure below.



Note:

- Both the LAN and the PC port must be connected.
- The phone's configuration file parameter 'lync/BToE/pairing_mode' is by default set to **AUTOMATIC** for pairing *with a cable to the PC port*.
- The configuration file parameter 'lync/BToE/pairing_mode' can be configured to BOTH (for manual pairing mode).
- The default value for the RX50 is BOTH (only manual pairing is supported).

> To manually pair the phone:

a. Use a pairing code generated by the phone as a unique ID of the device:(i) Press the MENU key on the phone.





(ii) In the Menu screen, touch **Pairing**.



(vi) Select Manual Pairing Code...



(vii) In the 'Pair code' field, enter the pairing code k4a*2WKU you noted earlier and click OK; view on the phone the briefly displayed message Pairing activated; the AC Device Duo icon is now highlighted and indicates AC Device Duo is now connected to <Phone IP Address>.



Note: If the RX50 is signed in with a Skype for Business user, the **Menu** softkey will be displayed and pairing will be available as explained above. If the RX50 Skype for Business user is signed out and 'voip/account/primary_type' OR 'voip/account/secondary_type' is **TEAMS_DESKTOP**, then a **Pair** softkey will be displayed for pairing. Since the RX50 default value is **TEAMS_DESKTOP**, the **Pair** softkey is displayed when signed out.



3.1 Viewing Account Status

The phone allows you to view the status of your accounts and paired applications.

- > To view the status of your accounts and paired applications:
- Open the Accounts screen (MENU > Settings > Accounts).



3.2 Selecting the Application with which to Pair the Phone

You can select the application with which to pair the phone.

- > To select the application to pair the phone with:
- 1. From the systray, right-click the Device Duo icon and select **Paired Applications**.



2. Select the application with which to pair the phone.

Note:

- To define which account will be the default, the network administrator can configure the phone's configuration file parameters
- 'voip/account/primary_type'
 - √ Value: {accounts type}
 - √ Default:
 - Skype for Business: SFB
 - Generic SIP: SIP
- 'voip/account/secondary_type'.
 - Value: {accounts type}
 - ✓ Default:
 - Skype for Business: EMPTY [RX50 Skype for Business is TEAMS_DESKTOP]
 - Generic SIP: EMPTY
- The Device Duo feature supports:
 - ✓ Device lock sync between the PC application and the phone [applicable only if the Skype for Business account is also signed in; if the PC is not locked, the device will also be unlocked]
 - ✓ Hot Desking (performed by the guest user); only after a Skype for Business user is defined; if the phone is paired and the user performs Hot Desking, the device will automatically be unpaired and the guest user can pair themselves later.



3.3 Verifying Desktop App Settings

Device Duo can be paired with a PC desktop application of your choice:

- Microsoft Teams app (see below)
- Zoom app (see <u>here</u>)

3.3.1 Teams App Settings

After pairing, make sure in your PC Teams application under 'Settings' that 'Audio Devices' is set to **AudioCodes 400HD Phone** as shown in the figures below.



Settings			
🐼 General	Audio devices		
🕀 Privacy	AudioCodes 400HD Phone		
🗘 Notifications			
Ω Devices	Jabra UC VOICE 150a MS		
🕆 Permissions	AudioCodes 400HD Phone		
& Calls Custom Setup			
	AudioCodes 400HD Phone (AudioCodes 400HD Phone) $ \checkmark$		
	Make a test call		



Note: If these settings aren't set to **AudioCodes 400HD Phone**, the phone will not function as a speaker.

3.3.2 Zoom App Settings

After pairing, make sure in your PC Zoom application under 'Settings' that 'Audio Devices' is set to **AudioCodes 400HD Phone** as shown in the figures below.

The Device Duo application is currently supported for pairing AudioCodes' phones with Zoom client application (basic functionalities).

Note: Two mandatory configuration file parameters must be configured for the Zoom application to function with Device Duo:

- 'lync/BToE/pid' must be configured to 33060
- 'lync/BToE/vid' must be configured to **3595**

The network administrator must log in as Admin to set the parameters.

Zoom						_	
		Home	⊂ Chat	(Meetings	Contacts	Q Search	MB
CUpcoming	Recorded	+				Mirit Ben Asher mir***@audiocodes.com	BASIC
643 8	835 9574		My 643 83	Perso	nal Meet	🙂 Add a Personal Note	
My Personal						Settings	
			St	art	Copy Invitation	Available	
			Show	Meeting Invita	ation	 Away 	
						• Do not disturb	>
No upcor	ming meetings					Change My Picture	
						Try Top Features	
						Help	>
						Check for Updates	
						Switch to Portrait View	
						Switch Account	
						Sign Out	
						Buy a License	

🖸 Sett	ings	×
Θ	General	Speaker
0	Video	Test Speaker AudioCodes 400HD Phone (2- AudioCodes 400H >
	Audio	Output Level: Volume:
•	Share Screen	Use separate audio device to play ringtone simultaneously
0	Chat	Microphone
	Background & Filters	Test Mic AudioCodes 400HD Phone (2- AudioCodes 400H V
\bigcirc	Recording	Volume: • •
8	Profile	Automatically adjust microphone volume
	Statistics	Suppress background noise Learn more Auto
	Keyboard Shortcuts	 Low (faint background noises) Medium (computer fan, pen taps)
t	Accessibility	O High (typing, dog barks)
		Music and Professional Audio
		Show in-meeting option to "Turn On Original Sound" 🕥
		Ringtones Default · ⑦
		 Automatically isin audio by computer when isining a meeting
		Advanced



Note: If these settings aren't set to **AudioCodes 400HD Phone**, the phone will not function as a speaker.

4 Calling Features

4.1 Teams app

When in Device Duo mode with the Teams app, the phone supports the following calling features:

Call controls

- Accept call by both phone and PC application
- End call by both phone and PC application
- Mute call by both phone and PC application
- Hold call by both phone and PC application
- Reject call by the PC application
- Start call by both phone and PC application

Enhanced calling features

- Dialing using speed dials via the Teams desktop app
- Dialing using Contacts, Call Log, etc.
- Accepting a second incoming call
- Silent ringer
- Application ringtone or phone ringer selection
- Caller ID in outgoing calls from the phone
- Meeting subject when joining by PC

IP phone mode

Simultaneous call handling of native calling account (such as Teams Compatible) and desktop application calls (such as Teams desktop)

- Example: A user can put a 'Native Teams Compatible' call on hold and make another call using the Teams desktop application.
 - **Dual account mode**. When the phone has a Teams Compatible type account configured and the phone is paired with the Teams desktop application
 - Teams desktop account screen

The figure below shows accounts Skype for Business, Teams and Host Audio.





• When a phone is in Device Duo mode, the default line type is Teams. To select a different line type, use one of the following options: Use a configured Programmable Key or press the speaker hard key and select the line of choice.

lcon	Line Type
	Teams type line
Saoul	Skype for Business type line

Table 4-1: Line Type Examples

- **Select playback device**. The phone can be used for listening to music and can seamlessly pause the music application or browser when calling.
- The phone can be used as an audio device for WebRTC browser calls as well as other non-HID compatible applications.

4.2 Zoom app

When in Device Duo mode with the Zoom app, the phone supports the following calling features:

Call controls

- Accept call by both phone and PC application.
- End call by the PC application
- Mute call by the PC application
- Reject call by the PC application.
- Start call by the PC application.

Enhanced calling features

- Accepting a second incoming call
- Silent ringer

5 Configuring Line Types in Duo Mode

Note:

- The phone's configuration file parameter 'lync/BToE/pairing_mode' is by default set to **AUTOMATIC** for pairing with a cable to the PC port.
- To switch to *manual pairing* (using a pairing code), see Section 3.1.
- See Section 3.1 for more information about related configuration file parameters such as 'Primary Type' and 'Secondary Type'.

5.1 Configuring a Programmable Key as a Line

Any of the phone's Programmable Keys can be configured as a line. After configuring a Teams type account line, for example, touching its icon in the idle screen opens the New Call screen using that account type for the call. A line key can be configured to the available account types configured on the device.



Note: For the Line option to be displayed, the device needs to be paired as an audio device. For more information about this, see Section 3.

> To configure a Programmable Key as a line:

 Open the Programmable Keys screen (press the MENU key, touch the Keys option and select an 'Empty' item – OR – in the idle screen of devices with touch screens, touch the 3 dots. [On the 445HD phone, long-press the Programmable Key button].



2. Select an 'Empty' item and in the Programmable Key field, navigate to and select Line.



Caudiocodes

3. In the Programmable Key screen, touch the 'Key Label' field (use the 445HD's dial pad).



- **3.** Using the virtual keypad, type in an identifier that you'll easily identify in your idle screen and then touch the enter key.
- 4. Touch the 'Key Sip Account' field and navigate to the Account you want.

Programmable key	/ #1				Ø 11	1 Nov 11:	:51
Key Label:	Raou	ι					
Key Sip Account:		Alan F	Roberts				
						<	
Select				Save		Back	

5. Touch the **Save** softkey.



6. In the idle screen, view the icon of the line you configured.



To change the account type:

- 1. Long-press the line (whose account type in the previous figure is Skype for Business).
- 2. Select the line and in the 'Key Sip Account' field in the Programmable Key screen that opens, navigate to and select **Teams Audio**).



3. Touch Save.



4. View the line in the idle screen. In the preceding figure, the line is configured as type Teams Audio.

5.2 Viewing the Line and Determining its Status

Icons on lines displayed in the idle screen indicate line status irrespective of line type. Use the table below as reference to determine line status.

lcon	Status of the Line
	Indicates that the (Teams) line is currently active and available.
Raoul	Indicates the sharing status, in this case the indication is that the (Skype for Business) line is available but currently busy.
🤶 Mirit Ben Asher	Indicates busy status.
Raoul	Indicates that the (Skype for Business) line is currently unavailable.

Table 5-1: Icons Indicating Line Status

This page is intentionally left blank.

6 Making a Call

6.1 Selecting a Line

This section shows how to make a call in the phone's 'New call' screen by selecting a line (**New Call** > select the line by pressing the upper or lower rim of the phone's navigation button).

Note: Changing the line in 'New Call' is not supported in the RX50 conference phone. For the RX50, a line is selected using a Line Programmable Key (see Section 5 for more information about configuring a Line Programmable Key) or a Calling Account Speed Dial (see Section 6.3).

> To select a line:

- 1. View the status of your accounts (press the MENU key > Settings > Accounts).
- 2. If your phone has dual Accounts, press the speaker button or headset button on the phone or pick up the handset; the 'New call' screen is displayed.

😑 Alan Roberts		() 11	.:29		
New call			Ala	n Roberts	
				Alan Roberts	
			alanr [·]	Teams Audio	
• • *		(0	æ	
Meet now	Speed Dial	Call	Log	URL	

- **3.** Press the lower rim of the navigation button to navigate (or in the touch screen, navigate with your finger); the account options are displayed, as shown in the preceding figure. Select either:
 - Skype for Business ('Alan Roberts' in the preceding figure)
 - Teams account ('alanr Teams Audio' in the preceding figure)
- **4.** Dial using either digits, the touch keypad or by selecting a contact and then pressing the **Dial** softkey.

6.2 Using a Line Programmable Key

Here's how to make a call using a line Programmable Key that you configured.

- > To make a call using a Line Programmable Key:
- **1.** After configuring a Programmable Key as a line as shown in Section 5.1, touch/press the key then displayed in the idle screen.

2. View at the same time on your PC the following:

3. In the 'New call' field in the phone's screen, enter the number to call.

4. View simultaneously in your Teams app on your PC the following:

5. Click **Call**; the call is made and the phone screen displays the following:

< alanr Teams Audio 🖪 Phone Speaker	@ 18:01
C TD Teams desktop call	00:10
	•
Call Menu	End

6. Use the phone as a speaker. Make sure in your PC Teams app under 'Settings' that 'Audio Devices' is set to **AudioCodes 400HD Phone** as described under Section 3.1.

6.3 Selecting an Audio Account through which to Speed Dial

Users can configure a Programmable Key for speed dialing to be sent through an audio account of their choice. The feature determines through which audio account the call goes out when speed dialing. For example: A phone is configured with two audio accounts, Teams audio account and Skype for Business audio account, as shown in the figures below.

	Programmable	e key #1			Q) 16 Nov	10:49
	Number:		6001				
	Key Label:		Mana	gement			
	Call using:			alanr Teams	Audio		
	Select from [Directory:					
	ے Select			Save		く Back	
P	rogrammable	key #2			Ø	16 Nov	10:51
Р	rogrammable Number:	key #2	6002		Ø	16 Nov	10:51
P	rogrammable Number: Key Label:	key #2	6002 Private	e	Ø	16 Nov	10:51
P	rogrammable Number: Key Label: Call using:	key #2	6002 Private	e Alan Roberts	Ø	16 Nov	10:51
P	rogrammable Number: Key Label: Call using: Select from D	key #2 irectory:	6002 Privato	e Alan Roberts	00	16 Nov	10:51

- Speed Dial 6001 is sent through the Teams audio account
- Speed Dial **6002** is sent through Skype for Business audio account

6.4 Using the PC

You can optionally start a call from the Teams application on the PC and simultaneously view it on the phone. The figure below shows the Teams application after a call is made.

The figure below shows the phone screen after a call is made from the Teams application on the PC.

Note: If the Device Settings in the Teams application on the PC aren't set to **AudioCodes 400HD Phone** as described in Section 3.1, the phone will not reflect the call made from the Teams application on the PC.

7 Handling Incoming Calls

When a phone is paired and a call comes in, it's indicated on both the phone screen and in the Teams application on the PC, as shown in the figures below.

> To handle an incoming call on the phone:

1. In the phone screen, touch the **Accept** softkey -OR- touch the **New call** softkey to start a new call -OR- touch the **Silent** softkey to mute the ringing.

If answered, the established call is indicated both on the phone screen and in the Teams application on the PC.

The figure below shows the phone screen after the incoming call is answered.

2. [Optionally] Touch the Call Menu softkey.

3. [Optionally] Select the New Call option to make a new call.

Note:

- On the RX50 conference phone, a **Hold** option (in addition to **New Call** and **Flash**) is displayed in the Call Menu screen.
- The **Flash** option allows holding a call both on the phone as well as in the Teams PC application. It also allows toggling between held calls.
- The **Hold** option (on the RX50) allows holding a call only on the device, i.e., locally, not in the Teams PC application. It only silences the device. The hold option is available on the other devices by the HOLD hard key.

🤇 Alan Roberts	S Phone Handse		Ø	11:47	
New call			Alar	n Roberts	
		0	\mathbf{O}	ø	
Meet now	Speed Dial	Call	Log	URL	

4. [Optionally] Select the Flash option.

5. Select the **Resume** softkey.

8 Joining a Meeting by PC

Note: Before attempting to join a meeting, make sure:

- You've signed in to the phone with a Skype for Business account
- The phone is paired with the Teams/Zoom application on the PC
- You have Teams/Zoom meetings in your Calendar

The feature allows a user to join a meeting viewed in the phone's Calendar, by PC.

- To join a meeting by PC:
- Open the phone's Calendar (MENU button > Calendar), press the upper or lower rim of the navigation button to navigate to the meeting you want to join if there are more than one (in the phone's touch screen, you can navigate with your finger).

2. Touch the Join by PC softkey.

- 3. In the relevant browser that opens, click Go to the Teams app/Zoom app.
- **4.** View in the Teams/Zoom application on the PC a meeting window indicating a new Teams/Zoom desktop call has started.

 Microsoft Te	eams	- 🗆 X
Choose your video an	d audio options	
	[[]] Computer audio	0
A	Jabra UC VOICE 150a MS	t₩
AL No camera is connected	J (1)	•-
	🛞 Phone audio	0
	Room audio	
	💋 Don't use audio	
	Cancel	Join now

Note:

- If you join a meeting within the defined timeout (Default: 30 seconds), the meeting's title appears in the Teams/Zoom app on the PC.
- On your phone screen, you'll view the following when joining a Teams meeting:

• On your phone screen, you'll view the following when joining a Zoom meeting:

< Chana Oyerbach 📣 Phone Speaker	হ্ন 🛈 11:18
Coom desktop call	02:07
Call Menu	End

In the Teams/Zoom app on the PC, click Join now; the meeting opens. Teams client before 'Join now'

 Teams OVOC implementation -		
Choose your vid	eo and audio options	
	ြ _{ာရိ}) Computer audio	
	AudioCodes 400HD Phone	~
Your camera is turned off	J C C	
	R Phone audio	
	C Room audio	0
🔯 🔘 🚿 Background filters	🕸 🔲 Don't use audio	0
	Cancel	Join now

Zoom client after joining

This page is intentionally left blank.

9 Managing Accounts

The phone's configured accounts are displayed in the Accounts screen (MENU > **Settings** > **Accounts**). The figure below shows two accounts configured for this user:

- Skype for Business a.k.a. VoIP line (the first account listed), directly connected to the server (via the phone)
- Teams a.k.a. Teams Desktop Line (the second account listed), paired with the PC client which is connected to the server

හ හි	counts	@ 11 Nov 14:14
(Alan Roberts	
	alanr Teams Audio	

Note:

- Each account is identifiable by its logo.
- Softkeys are displayed in the idle screen according to the account's capabilities. For example, the idle screen of the **Teams** account (**Teams Desktop Line**) does not display **Calendar** or **Meet Now** softkeys.

A call started by the phone uses the *default account*. The default account is determined by the value configured for the account configuration file parameters, by the network administrator. Use the table below as reference.

Table 5-1. Account I arameters

Parameter	Description
voip/account/prime_calling_account_in_dual_account_mode	 Applies only to incoming calls. Possible values: {none} {voip_account} (Default on all phones except the RX50) {desktop_account} (Default on the RX50)
voip/account/primary_type	 If the network administrator configures its value {account type} to: SFB, then the Skype for Business account will be the default (primary type). SIP, then the Generic SIP account will be the default (primary type).

See also Section 3.2 for more information.

This page is intentionally left blank.

10 Signing in on a Paired Phone

When a phone is paired, the account displayed in the idle screen is the Teams Account. In this state, when signing in to the Skype for Business account, the process is performed in the background and it is indicated with the following icon:

Note: Once sign-in is completed, the screen title is replaced according to the Primary value defined by the network administrator.

This page is intentionally left blank.

11 Automatic Media Pause

If a call comes in while you're using your paired device as speaker to listen to music, for example, the media playing on the phone is automatically paused for the call.

Note: Before using the phone as speaker to listen to music (for example), the phone must be selected on the PC as the playback device as shown in the figure below. Click the speaker icon in the systray and then click the audio output option to select the paired phone.

- When dialing and making a call, the paused music is correct.
- Once the call ends, the music is not automatically restored.

This page is intentionally left blank.

12 Volume Control

When changing the volume from the PC, the audio device is synced accordingly and vice versa. Bidirectional volume can be controlled from the phone or from the PC.

Independent volume level is available for:

- Tones¹
- Ringtone²
- Voice call³
- Music/notification⁴
- 1. If you adjust the volume of the dialing tone (for example), the volume level will not change next time you pick up the handset *even if you adjust another media stream volume*.

The same applies to 2, 3 and 4.

This page is intentionally left blank.

13 Limitations

13.1 Device Duo with Teams App

Here are the limitations known to exist with the Device Duo paired with Teams client:

Table 13-1: Known Limitations

Incident	Description
-	Users might need to set the audio device manually in the Teams app when there are multiple audio devices (such headsets) connected to the PC. To set the audio device in the Teams app, go to Menu \rightarrow Settings \rightarrow Devices and then select AudioCodes 400HD Phone .
-	Dialing or Joining a meeting from a phone that is paired with the Teams desktop application requires further 'user confirmation' by the Teams application.
-	Call cancel using an audio device is not supported by the Teams app (also in other audio devices).
-	'In-call' DTMF generation is <i>not</i> supported by the phone. It is only supported by the Teams application itself.
-	The Teams app executes unstable handling of "flash" that might result in inadequate execution of flash/resume (also on other audio devices).
-	Caller ID or meeting ID is supported only in outgoing calls.
-	A call put on hold by the remote side (Held state) will be seen on the phone as Call on Hold. The Teams application inadequately distinguishes between multiple calls on hold and a call in held state.
-	Hanging up an on-hold call from the phone is executed by the Teams application with a delay.
IPPUC-5830	An outgoing call via the Teams application is saved in the call as an incoming call instead of as an outgoing one.
-	Skype for Business app must be deactivated (closed) for Duo mode to function correctly.
-	When upgrading from old versions (BToE) to the new version (Duo), it's mandatory to first uninstall old BToE versions.

13.2 Device Duo with Zoom App

Here are the known limitations for the Device Duo paired with the Zoom client:

Incident	Description
IPPUC-6880	When the user joins a Zoom meeting via Menu > Calendar > Join by PC , there's no indication of the Zoom desktop call on the phone screen (even though voice is heard).
-	A phone that is paired with Device Duo using the Zoom app cannot handle simultaneous calls from different line types. For example, if you have an ongoing Zoom desktop call and a new incoming Teams call is answered, the phone screen continues displaying the Zoom desktop call. It should display the Teams call.
IPPUC-6760	 If the user ends a Zoom desktop call on the phone, it only closes the call on the phone screen; voice continues to be heard on the phone and the Zoom app call screen continues to be displayed on the PC.
	 When in a Zoom desktop call, pressing the Flash option from the Call Menu results in no response.
	 When pressing MUTE on the phone, the call on the Zoom app is not muted; it is only muted on the phone; it should be muted on both.
	 When pressing HOLD on the phone or selecting the Hold/Resume option from the Call Menu, the call on the Zoom app continues; it should be put on hold/resumed.

Table 13-2: Known Constraints

International Headquarters

1 Hayarden Street, Airport City Lod 7019900, Israel Tel: +972-3-976-4000 Fax: +972-3-976-4040

AudioCodes Inc.

200 Cottontail Lane Suite A101E Somerset NJ 08873 Tel: +1-732-469-0880 Fax: +1-732-469-2298

Contact us: https://www.audiocodes.com/corporate/offices-worldwide Website: https://www.audiocodes.com/

©2021 AudioCodes Ltd. All rights reserved. AudioCodes, AC, HD VoIP, HD VoIP Sounds Better, IPmedia, Mediant, MediaPack, What's Inside Matters, OSN, SmartTAP, User Management Pack, VMAS, VoIPerfect, VoIPerfectHD, Your Gateway To VoIP, 3GX, VocaNom, AudioCodes One Voice, AudioCodes Meeting Insights, AudioCodes Room Experience and CloudBond are trademarks or registered trademarks of AudioCodes Limited. All other products or trademarks are property of their respective owners. Product specifications are subject to change without notice

Document #: LTRT-11325

